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June 11, 2025 

VIA Email 

The Honorable Todd Rokita 
Office of the Attorney General 
302 W. Washington St., 5th Floor 
Indianapolis, IN 46204 

Request for Investigation into Discriminatory DEI Practices at Indiana 
University Health in Violation of Federal and Indiana Law 

Dear Attorney General Rokita: 

America First Legal Foundation (“AFL”) is a national nonprofit organization 
committed to upholding the rule of law and the principle of equal protection under 
the law for all Americans. 

We request that your office investigate1 Indiana-based healthcare system Indiana 
University Health (“IU Health”) for violating Indiana’s statutory prohibitions on 
discrimination. IU Health has implemented race-, sex-, and identity-based 
preferences across core operations through a sweeping “Diversity, Equity, and 
Inclusion” (“DEI”) regime—one that has subordinated merit to ideology and equal 
treatment to demographic quotas. 

IU Health receives substantial federal funding, some of which is administered by the 
State, and has taken in more than $2 million of taxpayer money every year since 
2020.2 IU Health has a close relationship with Indiana University School of Medicine 
and has partnered extensively with Indiana’s public universities to operate taxpayer-
funded residency and training programs.3 The result is a sprawling system in which 

 
1 See IND. CODE § 22-9-1, et seq. (Indiana Civil Rights Law) (This provision empowers your office to 
investigate and enforce civil rights laws against discriminatory practices). 
2 Recipient Profile: Indiana University Health, Inc. (UEI No. SN26MRT2DNJ5), USASPENDING, 
https://perma.cc/4FBX-7SST. 
3 See, e.g., IU Health, Facing Profit Questions, Gives Med School $416M, WFYI, 
https://perma.cc/2KUP-T5TU; see also Administrative Fellowships, IU HEALTH, 
https://perma.cc/SRP9-HLDF (“A unique partnership with Indiana University School of Medicine 
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patients, employees, students, and vendors are treated not as individuals but as 
representatives of identity groups. IU Health has implemented these discriminatory 
practices throughout hiring, promotion, contracting, medical education, and “tak[ing] 
the work of inclusion and equity-building and weav[ing] it into every single thing that 
we do.”4 Accordingly, your office not only has a civil rights enforcement duty, but an 
affirmative obligation to investigate discriminatory practices and take action to 
vindicate the rights of affected Hoosiers.5 

I. Violations of Indiana Law 

A. Violations of the Indiana Civil Rights Law 

In 1965, Indiana enacted the Indiana Civil Rights Law, IND. CODE § 22-9-1, et seq., 
making it unlawful for private employers to discriminate on the basis of race in all 
aspects of employment.6 IU Health has violated this statute by implementing a 
“workforce equity” program which aims to build a workforce, “representative of the 
Indiana marketplace as noted in the 2020 census.”7 As part of that program, IU 
Health is “prioritizing workforce diversity at all levels” with an explicit focus on 
“leadership roles.”8 It has launched a race-based hiring strategy, tracked publicly 
through race demographic reports broken out by “Management,” “Leadership,” and 
“Provider” positions.”9 

This race-conscious hiring and promotion scheme also violates federal civil rights 
laws. Under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq., 
employers may not make employment decisions based on race—whether through 
quotas, targets, or preferences. While framed as “equity,” IU Health’s program 
explicitly seeks racial balancing in leadership and provider roles.10 This is not a 
lawful diversity effort—it is a race-based classification system that denies individuals 

 
(IUSM), the nation's largest medical school, gives patients access to innovative treatments and 
therapies.”). 
4 IU HEALTH ARNETT HOSP., infra note 21.  
5 See Ind. State Highway Comm’n v. Ind. Civ. Rts. Comm’n, 424 N.E.2d 1024, 1031 (Ind. 1981) (“The 
State has thus undertaken not merely to enforce, but affirmatively to provide equal employment 
opportunity for all citizens of Indiana.”); see also IND. CODE § 22-9-1-3(e) (“‘Commission attorney’ 
means the deputy attorney general, such assistants of the attorney general as may be assigned to the 
commission…”). 
6 See also Roman Marblene Co., Inc. v. Baker, 88 N.E.3d 1090, 1096 (Ind. 2017) (“Every discriminatory 
practice relating to ... employment ... shall be considered unlawful unless it is specifically exempted by 
[IND. CODE § 22-9-1].”). 
7 Workforce Equity, IND. UNIV. HEALTH, https://perma.cc/5FLE-JM6H. 
8 Id. 
9 Gender, Race, & Ethnicity Representation, IND. UNIV. HEALTH, https://perma.cc/E2RF-W6J6. 
10 Workforce Equity, supra note 7. 
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equal opportunity based on skin color, in direct violation of established civil rights 
protections.11 

IU Health has openly acknowledged this intent. In a public statement posted on the 
INDY Racial Equity Pledge website, IU Health declared that it had “identified the 
baseline demographics of its 2,000+ leaders vs. the population of Indiana” and that it 
would “improve racial/ethnic representation among leadership roles.” IU Health 
further stated that it is “requiring diverse slates of candidates for senior leadership 
positions” and has “increased opportunities for tuition reimbursement to promote 
career advancement” to help improve “racial/ethnic representation.”12 IU Health’s 
admissions confirm that it is not pursuing equal opportunity but rather using race as 
a basis for employment decisions. 

IU Health’s commitment to achieving “racial/ethnic representation” is reaffirmed 
through explicitly racial employment and procurement practices. For example, in 
April 2025, IU Health posted a job listing for an “experienced, BIPOC Doula,” saying 
that “BIPOC doulas are individuals who identify as Black, Indigenous, or other 
Person of Color.”13 This is a textbook violation of Title VII. Similarly, IU Health 
maintains a supplier diversity program that actively classifies and evaluates vendors 
based on race, gender, and other protected characteristics.14 The program seeks to 
“promote the inclusion” of minority- and women-owned businesses and requires 
vendors to disclose the racial, ethnic, and gender identity of their ownership.15 
Specifically, IU Health committed that 25% of all contracts for “major capital 
construction projects” go to diverse contractors.16 IU Health’s race- and sex-conscious 
contracting preference, embedded into its procurement system, wastes state assets 
and resources. It further confirms that its commitment to race-based decision-making 
extends beyond hiring and into its business operations. 

 
11 Because IU Health receives substantial federal funding, these practices also implicate Title VI of 
the Civil Rights Act, which prohibits recipients of federal funds from engaging in race discrimination. 
Although Title VI does not typically govern employment, it applies where race-based employment 
decisions affect the delivery of federally funded services—such as patient care. IU Health’s 
prioritization of race in provider and leadership roles directly impacts care access and quality, making 
this a Title VI violation as well. 
12 IND. UNIV. HEALTH, Foster a Diverse Workforce and Inclusive Culture, INDY RACIAL EQUITY PLEDGE, 
https://perma.cc/T8FR-7EBX. 
13 Experienced, BIPOC Doula – Inpatient Riley OB (Requisition No. 385333), IND. UNIV. HEALTH, 
https://perma.cc/C5LD-U3WX. 
14 Vendor Relations, IND. UNIV. HEALTH, https://perma.cc/AWP7-LJGP. 
15 Id. 
16 IND. UNIV. HEALTH, Build Partnerships to Reduce Healthcare Disparities, Impact Social 
Determinants of Health and Create More Inclusive Communities, INDY RACIAL EQUITY PLEDGE, 
https://perma.cc/7YG7-GB9X. 
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IU Health has also embedded this ideology into its internal structure, using its 
diversity, equity, and inclusion program to reshape institutional policy and culture 
from within. As part of this program, IU Health created the “Office of Health Equity 
Research and Engagement.”17 This office conducts “diversity, equity and inclusion-
focused trainings,” including sessions titled “Mitigating Cognitive Bias,” “Cultural 
Humility,” and “Anti-racism.”18 This office also added “diversity and inclusion-based 
survey questions” to the annual employee engagement survey and created “Diversity 
Councils” to support “‘team members’ racial and ethnic experiences.”19 While these 
initiatives may not, on their face, violate state law, they reflect the deeply ideological 
DEI agenda that President Trump targeted in his executive orders.20  

One DEI consultant, Ebony Barrett-Kennedy, was hired as IU Health’s first regional 
DEI consultant for the West Central Region of Indiana as part of a broader effort to 
institutionalize DEI “across every single thing that we do.” 21 A long-time social 
justice advocate, she was charged with leading policy changes around “race, gender, 
culture, and identity” and to make DEI “more systematic” and “a lot more 
intentional.” As she described it, the goal is to ensure DEI influences “every single 
interaction that our team members have, and the interactions that our patients 
have.”22 

IU Health’s mission is to provide Hoosiers with quality healthcare, not inject DEI 
ideology that impacts patient care based on race, sex, or other protected traits into 
every interaction a patient has with their doctor. 

B. Use of ‘Increasing Organ Transplant Access’ Model to Advance 
Discriminatory Practices  

IU Health is also an official participant in the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid 
Services’ (“CMS”) Increasing Organ Transplant Access (“IOTA”) Model, which ties 
federal reimbursement to equity benchmarks and requires institutions to implement 

 
17 Health Equity Research & Engagement, IND. UNIV. HEALTH, https://perma.cc/S2AH-GYUG. 
18 OFF. OF HEALTH EQUITY RSCH. & ENGAGEMENT, Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Learning 
Curriculum, IND. UNIV. HEALTH, https://perma.cc/M8LG-G6QA. 
19 IND. UNIV. HEALTH, Enhance a Culture of Inclusion at IU Health, INDY RACIAL EQUITY PLEDGE, 
https://perma.cc/8ZBS-7ZRS. 
20 See, e.g., Ending Illegal Discrimination and Restoring Merit-Based Opportunity, Exec. Order No. 
14173, 90 Fed. Reg. 8633 (Jan. 31, 2025), https://perma.cc/8ASH-GVED.  
21 IU HEALTH ARNETT HOSP., A New Role Brings Renewed Commitment to Diversity, Equity and 
Inclusion in the West Central Region of IU Health, IND. UNIV. HEALTH (Mar. 25, 2022), 
https://perma.cc/424M-F69W. 
22 Id. 
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formal “health equity plans.”23 As part of that participation, IU Health is required to 
identify race-based disparities, develop targeted interventions, conduct resource gap 
analyses, and track progress toward race-conscious performance metrics and long-
term equity goals.24 Studies conducted by Indiana University School of Medicine 
researchers “were repeatedly cited throughout the CMS Final Rule.”25 

As a participant of IOTA, IU Health’s organ transplant program embraces IOTA’s 
framework, incorporating race and social vulnerability into eligibility metrics. These 
life-and-death decisions are no longer governed solely by clinical need, but by a 
bureaucratic equity model designed to engineer outcomes by demographic category. 

Federal mandates are not a license to violate state civil rights laws. No federal model 
can authorize an Indiana healthcare system to embed race-, sex-, or identity-based 
discrimination into clinical decision-making. If IU Health is weaponizing IOTA to 
prioritize patients based on demographic traits rather than medical need, that 
conduct is not just unlawful—it is morally indefensible. Your office must investigate 
and stop any misuse of federal programs that erodes the guarantees of equal 
protection under the laws of Indiana.26 

II. Requested Investigatory and Enforcement Actions 

These practices are incompatible with the statutory protections afforded to Hoosiers. 
To the extent that individual practitioners or administrators have enforced or abided 

 
23 IOTA Participant and DSA Final List, CTRS. FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS., 
https://perma.cc/W895-5YQS; see also Medicare Program; Alternative Payment Model Updates and 
the Increasing Organ Transplant Access (IOTA) Model, 89 Fed. Reg. 84128 (Dec. 4, 2024), 
https://perma.cc/L4YP-6PGF; Increasing Organ Transplant Access (IOTA) Model, CTRS. FOR 
MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVS., https://perma.cc/L3E4-GTZZ. 
24 Henry Ford Health, Comment Letter on Proposed Rule Alternative Payment Model Updates and 
the Increasing Organ Transplant Access (IOTA) Model at 6–7 (July 3, 2024), https://perma.cc/6XKW-
7NCF. 
25 REGENSTRIEF INST., CMS Launches New Mandatory Kidney Transplant Payment Model, 
EUREKALERT! (Dec. 2, 2024), https://perma.cc/9V3Q-Q55W; see also 89 Fed. Reg. at 96297 (citing R.E. 
Patzer, et al., The Role of Race and Poverty on Steps to Kidney Transplantation in the Southeastern 
United States, 12 AM. J. OF TRANSPLANTATION 358 (2012)) (IUSM Author); 89 Fed. Reg. at 92690 (citing 
Briana L. Doby, et al., Public Discourse and Policy Change: Absence of Harm from Increased Oversight 
and Transparency in OPO Performance, 21 AM. J. OF TRANSPLANTATION 2646 (2021)) (IUSM Author).  
26 IND. CODE § 22-9-1, et seq.; see also IND. CODE § 4-6-8-1, et seq. (Attorney General’s “duty to study 
federal legislation”).  
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by such standards, their conduct may also warrant professional discipline under 910 
IND. ADMIN. CODE § 1-14-1.27 

IU Health has attempted to conceal these policies by removing DEI-related content 
from its public-facing website; however, internal job postings and policy statements 
confirm that race- and sex-based discrimination remain embedded across the 
organization.28 Failure to investigate and remedy these practices could expose the 
State of Indiana to legal and reputational risk, particularly if federal funding is 
shown to have supported discriminatory programs operated in partnership with 
public institutions under state authority. 

These are not isolated initiatives—they are embedded into the system’s long-term 
governance, staffing, training, and care delivery. IU Health’s policy is to “weave” DEI 
into every facet of its operations.29 

Accordingly, AFL urges your office to investigate IU Health’s discriminatory conduct. 
Specifically, we request that you: 

I. Conduct a thorough review of all IU Health programs, departments, and 
policies that incorporate race-, sex-, or identity-based criteria—including those 
operating under the banners of DEI, “health equity,” “social determinants of 
health,” or any other euphemism for unlawful discrimination—and take all 
necessary legal and administrative action to eliminate any practice that 
violates state or federal civil rights laws. 

II. Require IU Health to rescind any policy or initiative that conditions access to 
care, education, employment, or advancement on an individual’s race, sex, or 
political ideology, and to implement institution-wide corrective measures to 
bring its healthcare system into full compliance with Indiana’s statutory 
nondiscrimination mandates. 

III. Although CMS mandates participation in the IOTA Model for selected 
hospitals, federal compulsion does not excuse state-sanctioned discrimination. 
Your office retains full constitutional and statutory authority to investigate 
whether its implementation violates Indiana civil rights laws—and to publicly 
oppose continued participation in any federally imposed model that 
incentivizes unlawful discrimination. 

 
27 (“Any licensee of the State of Indiana who is found to have committed a Discriminatory Practice 
shall be put on notice … that failure to comply with its final order will subject said licensee to the 
possible suspension or revocation of such license.”). 
28 See, e.g., Experienced, BIPOC Doula, supra note 13. 
29 IU HEALTH ARNETT HOSP., supra note 21. 
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AFL has enclosed documentation supporting this request, including a copy of our 
federal civil rights complaint and accompanying exhibits.  

We trust you will give all due attention to this matter and appropriately act to 
vindicate the rights of Hoosiers. Thank you for your consideration. 

 

Sincerely, 
/s/ Megan D. Redshaw 
America First Legal Foundation 
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Page(s) 

Federal assistance to IU Health over 
time by fiscal year 2 

 “Workforce Equity” policy  3 
Gender, Race, and Ethnicity 
employment data  

4 

DEI Pledge 5 
BIPOC Doula job listing 6 
Supplier diversity commitment 7 
Diverse candidate slates for leadership 
roles commitment 8 

DEI progress update 8 
DEI learning curriculum 9 
Excerpts from article: A New Role Brings 
Renewed Commitment to Diversity, Equity 
and Inclusion in the West Central Region of 
IU Health 

 
10–11 

Article showing IU Health researchers 
essential to CMS IOTA rule 12 

Employee resource groups 13 
Cultural humility modules 14 
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